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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA
SAN FRANCISCO DIVISION

CALIFORNIA PACIFIC REGIONAL

MEDICAL CENTER, Case No. 13-cv-00540 NC
Plaintiff, ORDER GRANTING

DEFENDANT’'S MOTION TO
V. DISMISS

GLOBAL EXCEL MANAGEMENT, Re: Dkt. No. 5

INC.
Defendant.

The issue before the Court is whether them=n independent, private right of actio
for violation of California Health & Safetydile § 1371.4, a provi of the state’s Knoxj
Keene Act mandating that health plans reirsbugmergency services providers. For th
reasons set forth below, the Court holds tirtasuch private right of action exists and,
therefore, GRANTS defendant’s motion to dissithe case witholgave to amend.

|. BACKGROUND

Plaintiff (“California Medical Center”) is California non-profit corporation which
provides medical care to patients. Dkt. N§. . Defendant (“Global”) is a Canadian fa
profit corporation, which is in the businesfsarranging for the provision of health care
services to its enrollees andfpaying for or reimbursing éhcost of those serviced. | 3.
Between August 2, 2008 and August 5020California Medical Center provided

emergency medical treatmentao individual with the initial$1.R. who was enrolled in a
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health care service plan sponsoaad/or administered by Globald. § 8. California

Medical Center submitted charges billed foRHs emergency medit&eatment to Global

for payment.ld.  12. In response, Global submiteedayment of $38,240.65, but has 1
paid the balance of $78,346.71 that Gatifa Medical Center alleges is owed. 1 12-
14.

On February 7, 2013, CalifomMedical Center filed this suit, alleging that Globa
failure to fully reimburse the emergency sees rendered to H.R. violated California
Health & Safety Code § 1371.4(bid. 11 16-21. On April 4, 2013, Global filed a motio
to dismiss the complaint under Federal Rul€wil Procedure 12(b)()6 Dkt. No. 5. The
Court held a hearing on timeotion on May 15, 2013.

The Court has jurisdiction under 28 U.S81332(a)(2). DktNo. 1 1 1-3. The
parties consented to the jurisibn of a United States Magjrate Judge under 28 U.S.C.
636(c). Dkt. Nos. 8-9.

II. STANDARD OF REVIEW

To survive a motion to disnmgsa complaint must contasufficient factual matter,
accepted as true, to state a claim fteféhat is plausible on its facaBell Atl. Corp. v.
Twombly 550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007Ashcroft v. Igbal556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009). “The
plausibility standard is not akin to a probéy requirement, but it asks for more than a
sheer possibility that a defenddras acted unlawfully . . Where a complaint pleads fag
that are merely consistent with a defentdalmbility, it stops short of the line between
possibility and plausibility oéntitlement to relief.”Igbal, 556 U.S. at 678 (quoting
Twombly 550 U.S. at 556-57) (internal quindam marks omitted). All allegations of
material fact are taken as true and are ttoad in the light most favorable to the non-
moving party. Coal. For ICANN Transparency, Inc. v. VeriSign, Jrigl1 F.3d 495, 501
(9th Cir. 2010).
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lll. DISCUSSION
A. The Request for Judicial Notice of Legislative History Is Granted.
As a general rule, a court may not Idokmatters beyond the complaint without
converting a motion to dismisstinone for summary judgmenbDatel Holdings Ltd. v.
Microsoft Corp, 712 F. Supp. 2d 974, 983 (N.D.IC2010) (Laporte, J.) (citations

omitted). However, a court maykejudicial notice of “mateal which is either submitted

as part of the complaint or necessarily relipdruby the complat,” as well as “matters of

public record.” Id. Under Federal Rule of Evidence 20}, (a judicially noticed fact must
be one not subject to reasonable dispute initlgaeither: (1) gemally knownwithin the
territorial jurisdiction of the trial court; or JZapable of accuratend ready determination
by resort to sources whose accuraagnot reasonably be questione&&e id.

Here, both parties request that the Cow jaidicial notice of unreported district
court decisions. While a court may take judicial notice of another court’s eedeHolder
v. Holder, 305 F.3d 854, 866 (9th Cir. 2002), there is no need to do so here. The pa
may cite to unrepeéed district court decisions to thetemt permitted by the local rules ar
the Court discusses these decisions belfeeCivil L.R. 3-4(e), 7-14see alsdNinth
Circuit Court of Appeals Rule 36-3.

In addition, Global requests that the Cdake judicial notice of certain portions of
the legislative history of California HealéhSafety Code § 1371.4. California Medical
Center does not oppose this request. Juchomte of the legislative history of state
statutes is appropriate under Federal Rule of Evidence2$4.,. e.gHunt v. Check
Recovery Systems, Ind78 F. Supp. 2d 1157, 1160-61 (N@al. 2007). The Court gran
Global’s request for judicial notice as to Hxité 3 and 4, Dkt. Nos. 15-3 and 15-4. The

parties’ remaining requests for judicradtice are denied, as not necessary.

B. gal_ifornia Health & Safety Code § 1371.4 Does Not Bride a Private Right of
ction.

Global moves to dismiss California Medi€enter’'s complainarguing that, while

private parties may pursue violations etson 1371.4 of the Knox-Keene Act under
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California’s Unfair Competition Law (UCL) or certain common law theories, there is ho

independent right of action byipate parties directly under the statute. Dkt. No. 5 at 2

14. In response, California Medical Centeguss that there is “no binding precedent w

11-
hich

holds that an independent cause of actionngedd and that the legislative intent indicates

the existence of a private right of action unsiection 1371.4. Dkt. No. 10 at 5:26-27, 1
13:23.

This Court is bound by the decisionstloé Supreme Court of California when
interpreting state lawVernon v. City of Los Angele?7 F.3d 1385,391 (9th Cir. 1994)

(citations omitted). When the California Sapre Court has not spoken to a particular

controversy, the Court must determine wigasiult it would reach based on state appellate

court opinions, statutes, and treatisksk.(citations omitted). Th€ourt is not bound by the

decisions of lower state courts ohet federal courts of equal ranKart v. Massanari266
F.3d 1155, 1169-70, 1174tfeCir. 2001). Because there is no binding case law on thg¢

issue presented by Globatisotion, this Court must intpret the Knox-Keene Act to

determine whether a stand-alone, private eadsction exists under California Health &

Safety Code 8§ 1371.4(b).

As a threshold issue, the parties appealisagree about the relevant test for
determining the existence of a private rightofion under California law. In its oppositi
to the motion to dismiss, California Medicalr@er asserts that California courts imply g
private right of action in accordance with thesR¢ement (Second) of Torts § 874(A). L
No. 10 at 12:22-27. The Restatement test thadlthe court itself to create a new private
right to sue, even if the Legislature nevensidered creation of such a right, and if the
court is of the opinion that a privatglit to sue is appropriate and neededu’v. Hawaiiar
Gardens Casino, Inc50 Cal. 4th 592, 60R2010) (internal quoteon marks and citations
omitted). As the Californi&upreme Court has made clear, however, the use of the
Restatement test is limited to determiningetfter to “recognize a tort action for damagge
to remedy aonstitutionalviolation.” Id. (quotingKatzberg v. Regents of University of

California, 29 Cal. 4th 300, 325 (2002)).
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In Lu, the California Supreme Court recognizbdt a “violation of a state statute
does not necessarily give rise to a private cause of actidndt 596 (citations omitted).
“Instead, whether a party has a right te skepends on whether the Legislature has
‘manifested an intent to create such i@gde cause of action’ under the statuttd’
(citations omitted). Such legislative intentyrize revealed through the language of the
statute and its legislative historid. (citations omitted). A stute may contain “clear,
understandable, unmistakable terms, wisicbngly and directly indicate that the
Legislature intended to create a private cafseetion,” for instance, by expressly statin
that “a person has or is liable for a causaation for a particular violation,” or “more
commonly, a statute may refer to a remedy eans of enforcing itsubstantive provisions

l.e., by way of an action.ld. at 597 (internal quotation marland citations omitted). “If,

however, a statute does not contain such obviaggikge, resort to itegislative history is$

next in order.” Id. (citations omitted). If a statuttbes not expressly create a cause of
action, there must be a “clear indicationathhe Legislature intended to do 4d. at 600.
Applying this test, the Coudoncludes that, if presentedtiwthis issue, the California
Supreme Court would likely holthat no private right of actiois available for violation of
California Health & Safety Code § 1371.4(b).

1. The Statutory Language Does NdExpressly Create a Private Cause of
Action.

California Health & Safety Code 8§ 1371.4piart of the Knox-Keene Health Care
Service Plan Act of 1975, Cadllealth & Safety Code § 13461 seq Section 1371.4(b)

provides:

A health care service plan, or its c@ating medical providers, shall reimburse
providers for emergency services ancegarovided to its enrollees, until the
care results in stabilizatiaof the enrollee, except @sovided in subdivision

(c). As long as federal or state law regsithat emergency services and care
be provided withoutirst questioning the patientability to pay, a health care
service plan shall not require a provideobtain authoriation prior to the
provision of emergency services andecaecessary to stabilize the enrollee’s
emergency medical condition.

This language does not expressly refaa tause of action, a remedy, or means o
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enforcing its substantive provisions. There ao clear or unmistakable terms indicating
intent to create a private right of awtifor violation of setion 1371.4(b).

In support for its position that the languagesection 1371.4(bnhidicates a legislativ
intent to create a private right of action, Gadrfia Medical Center argues that the provis
Is similar to the refund provision @oehring v. Chapman Universjt$21 Cal. App. 4th
353, 377-78 (2004) which wésund to explicitlydenote a private right of action. In
Goehring the statute at issue, California Busss and Professionede § 6061, required
unaccredited law schools to provide certain disclosurers&tts to students, and further
provided that “[i]f any school doe®t comply with these requirementssihiall make a full
refund of all fees paid by studeritdd. at 377. The court held that the purpose of the
refund provision was to “encourage compliandth disclosure requirements,” and that {
was indicative of the Legislature’s intent to create a private right of adtioat 379.
Goehringis distinguishable. Here, the statutorg\sion at issue sets forth rules regard
the authorization and reimbursement of egeearcy services. Unlike the provision in
Goehring California Health & Safety Code § 134Xontains no language that expressl
entitles private parties to a remedy onaky for violation of the statuteSeead. at 377;Lu,
50 Cal. 4th at 603 n.8.

While no California court has been callgaon to determine the availability of a
stand-alone, private right of action for \atibn of section 1371.4(b), two California
appellate decisions have held that meducaliders could bring private actions for
violations of the Knox-Keene Act unddre UCL and common law theories. Qoast
Plaza Doctors Hospe. UHP Healthcare105 Cal. App. 4th 69396, 705-06 (2002) the
court held that the Knox-Keene Act didtrioar a health care provider from seeking
reimbursement required by California Health & Code § 1371 dactly from the healt
care insurer for services rendete enrollees of the healdare plan “on a common law
breach of contract theory or under tidair competition law (Bus. & Prof. Code, §
17200).” The court noted that “[tlhe Knox-KeeAct itself contemplates that a health ¢

plan may be held liable unddreories based on other lawld. at 706;seeCal. Health &
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Safety Code 8§ 1371.25 (“A plan, any entity ¢anting with a plan,rad providers are eac

responsible for their own acts or omissions . . . . Nothing in this section shall preclude a

finding of liability on the part of a plan, amntity contracting witta plan, or a provider,
based on the doctrines of equitable indemmgmparative negligence, contribution, or
other statutory or commdaw bases for liability.”). Similarly, the court Bell v. Blue
Cross of California131 Cal. App. 4th?1, 214-16 (2005) helthat emergency room
physicians could bring a UCL claim basedsaation 1371.4 or a common law claim for
guantum meruit against a health care seryitas to obtain reimbursement for services
provided. The court reasoned that “[a]lthoudlgh Department of Managed Health Care
jurisdiction over the subject matter of sectid@®v1.4 (as well as theseof the Knox-Keeng
Act), its jurisdiction is not exclusive and tleas nothing in sectioh371.4 or in the Act
generally to preclude a private action untter UCL or at common law on a quantum
meruit theory.” Id. at 216-17 (citations oitted). The courts ilCoast PlazaandBell
contemplated causes of action under the WCat common law, and did not discuss the
availability of a stand-alone, private cause diaacfor violations of the Knox-Keene Act

Therefore, they do not support Catifita Medical Center’s position.

has

1Y%

Furthermore, the California Court of Appéwels observed that private parties do not

have a general power to enforce the Knox-Keene 8eeBlue Cross of California, Inc. v.

Superior Court180 Cal. App. 4th2437, 1250 (2009) (“although the Knox-Keene Act
expressly authorizes the DMHC to enforce the statute and does not include a parallé
authorization for suits by private individuagsjvate individuals can bring suit under the
UCL for violations of the Knox-Keene Act.” (citingell, 131 Cal. App. 4th at 216-17));
California Med. Ass’n, Inc. v. Aeda U.S. Healthcaref California, Inc, 94 Cal. App. 4th
151, 161 (2001) (noting that a private patigt not have a general power to enforce the
Knox-Keene Act, and that such power bagn entrusted exclivgly to the DMHC
(citations omitted)).

In its opposition, California Medal Center relies on language fr@alifornia

Medical Associatiorstating that private parties mayésto enjoin actsmade unlawful by
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Knox-Keene.” California Medicd Association 94 Cal. App. 4th at 161 (citations omitte
California Medical Center’s assertion, that tisiprecisely what it iseeking to do in the
present case, has no merit. Dkt. No. 18:48-22. As California Medical Center
acknowledged at the hearing on the motiodismiss, it is seeking damages, not an
injunction against GlobalSee alsdkt. No. 1 at 6. Moreover, in the above quoted
statement, the court @alifornia Medical Associatiomnelied onSamura v. Kaiser Found.
Health Plan, Inc. 17 Cal. App. 4th 1284, 1299 (1998hich involved unfair competition
claims, not a stand-alone cause of action under the Knox-Keene Act. Likewise, the
in California Medical Associatiobrought a UCL claim seekg to enjoin an act made
unlawful by the Knox-Keene Act94 Cal. App. 4th at 169.

Unlike the plaintiffs in theabove state court cases, hetalifornia Medical Center
has not brought a UCL or common law causadation, and instead seeks to maintain a
stand-alone cause of action directly under eacti371.4. At least ond.S. district court
has held that no such private right ofiac is available under that statut8eeRegents of
University of California vGlobal Excel Managemerinc., No. 10-cv-8164, 2010 WL
5175034, at *4 (C.D. CabDec. 10, 2010). IRegentsthe court considered a Rule 12(b)

motion to dismiss a private action againsolézl for its alleged failure to provide

plaintiff

6)

reimbursement in violation of California Healihd Safety Code 8§ 1371.4. In granting the

motion, the court stated that, while ther@aghing in section 1371.4 that precludes priv

causes of action to pursue reimbursememtnodunts owed, those actions are limited to

ate

“other statutes, like California’s Unfair Coriition Law, or common law doctrines such as

‘equitable indemnity, comparaBwegligence, contribution,” guantum meruit Id.
(citing Coast Plazal05 Cal. App. 4th at 706-07).

California Medical Center asserts that the holdinBé@gentss not persuasive in that

the decision conflicts with the & court’s earlier decision @edars-Sinai Med. Ctr. v.

Global Excel Mgmt., IngNo. 09-3627, 2009 WIz322253 (C.D. Cal. De@&0, 2009). Dk,

No. 10 at 9:20-23. This point is not well takeDedars-Sinainvolved unfair competition

and common law claims for reimbursement bhyapital which was an assignee of patieg
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insurance polices, not a stand-alone claim undeKtiox-Keene Act. WL 7322253, at *
One of the defendant insurancompanies moved to dismesthe claims for improper
venue based on a forum selection clause in the insurance palicyhe hospital argued
that the forum selection clause should betéohto the breach of contract and breach of]
implied covenant of good faith and faiealing claims, but not to the remaining,
“unassigned claims” for breach of implied c@ut, quantum meruit, unjust enrichment,
unfair competition.ld. at *4. The court noted in passititat, “even in the absence of an
assignment, Cedars-Sinai’s unassigned clamag have been brought under the Knox-
Keene Act.” Id. at *6. Nonetheless, the court coradal that the unassigned claims wer
also covered by the forum selection clauseabee they originatad the policy between
the insurance company and the patieids. There is nothing ithe court’s opinion that
suggests the availability ofstand-alone claim under the Knox-Keene Act. Dkt. No. 1(
9:20-10:15. To the contrary, the language floedars-Sinaupon which California
Medical Center relies cites Rell, which involved a UCL claim and a common law clair
for quantum meruit, not a private rigbitaction under the Knox-Keene AckeeBell, 131
Cal. App. 4th at 214, 216.

California Medical Center also urggse Court to addphe holding inEnloe Medical
Center v. Principal Life Ins. CpoNo. 10-cv-2227, 201WL 6396517, at8-9 (E.D. Cal.
Dec. 20, 2011), which disagreed with fRegentsourt’s holding that causes of actions
under section 1371.4 are limited to other sesutDkt. No. 10 at 109-11:18. In so
holding, theEnloecourt observed th&ell andCoast Plazaonly analyzed claims based i
the UCL and common law, arldat neither case foreclosed a stand-alone cl&imat *8-9.
The court noted, however, that the partiesrtbt adequately brief whether the statute
provides an independent cause of actind expressly declined to engage sua sponte
analysis of this issudd. This issue is now presentedthye motion to disnss before this
Court. Because section 1371.4 does not cotdaiguage expressly creating a private c
of action, the Court will turn to an examir@tiof the Legislature’s intent, as required by

the California Supreme Courku, 50 Cal. 4th at 597.
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2. The Legislative History Does Not Manifst an Intent to Create a Private
Right of Action.

The Knox-Keene Act ia comprehensive system of licensing and regulation under the

jurisdiction of the Departmemf Managed Health CardBell, 131 Cal. App. 4th at 215
(citation omitted). The purpose of section 137 aglarticulated in .hacomments to the B
Analysis, was to alleviate concerns regagdmanaged healthcar8&. Rules Comm., Offic

of S. Floor Analyses, Unfinished Bus., Apsis of S.B. No. 1832 (Cal. 1993-1994 Reg.

Sess.) as amended May 4, 19%&ction 1371.4 introduced a series of provisions to ensure

that California’s citizens received proper caral to eliminate “incentives for carriers to
deny care and reduce payments to physicialts."Specifically, section 1371.4 details
guidelines and procedures fomialing authorization of a patiéatcare. Analysis of S.B.
1832 as amended Augj2, 1994. As articulated yssembly Member Bill Morrow in
connection with a proposed anaement to the statute, the purpose of section 1371.4 w|
“ensure that health care saw®iplans provide coverage for emergency services and cg
to the point of stabilization dfter which point authorizain would be requed. Cal.
Assemb. Journal, No. 264 (1997-1998 Reg. Ses=x)also Ochs v. PacifiCare of
California, 115 Cal. App. 4th 782, (2004) (noting that the tent of section 1371.4 wa
to require health care service plans to payefoergency services that were not preappr
and that otherwise might not be covered). Tégislative Counsel’'s Digest states that t
bill which introduced section 3.4 “would require health caservice plans to reimburs
providers for emergency services and agitBout prior authorization in specified
circumstances.” Legislative Counsel’s DigistS.B. 1832 (Septl6, 1994), Dkt. No.
15-3.

As inLu, 50 Cal. 4th at 601, there is no acknowledgement in the legislative hist
that a private right of action existed under section 138&&Dkt. Nos. 15-3 and 15-4,
which “is a strong indication the beslature never intended to create such a right of ac
Moreover, section 1371.4 hasdn amended four times since it was ratified in 1994. T

substantive changes were clarificationgareling post-stabilization care which further
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emphasizes the section’s focus on patient cAralysis of S.B. 1832s amended May 4,

1994. A review of the legislative history fction 1371.4 thus reveals no intent to create a

private right of action under the statute.

Despite arguing that the “legislative underpngs of the statute clearly point to th

existence of a private right of action un&sction 1371.4,” California Medical Center has

failed to identify any manifestain of an intent to create sualprivate right of action in the

D

legislative history. Dkt. No. 10 at 13:21-2khstead, California Medical Center makes the

sweeping assertion that, without a private rigidction, the statute “would never be

enforced.” Dkt. No. 10 at 13:8- In support of this assertion, California Medical Center

citesBell, 131 Cal. App. 4th at 218, where the ¢moted that the Department of Managed

Health Care has supported private enforcdroéthe Act. Dkt. No. 10 at 13:3-109.
California Medical Center’'s argument doest provide a sufficient basis for finding a
private right of action in the absence aflear manifestation of legislative interfseelu,
50 Cal. 4th. at 601 (noting thavhen neither the languagwr the history of a statute
indicates an intent to create a new privaghtrto sue, a party contending for judicial
recognition of such aght bears a heavy, perhaps insaumtable, burden of persuasion.
(citations omitted)). In any event, thagament fails because nothing prevents the
enforcement of the statute under the UgZlcommon law theories, as the courBell and
the Department of ManageceHlth Care, as quoted Bell, both acknowledgedBell, 131
Cal. App. 4th at 218&ee Lup0 Cal. 4th at 603-04 (a court’s holding that a statute doe

provide a private cause of action does not necessarily foreclogedihaility of other

remedies such as common law theories, evgmt the Legislature from creating additional

remedies).

Furthermore, courts have noted thatkimox-Keene Act, in conferring on private
parties the right to enjoin violations ofetii\ct under the UCL or at common law, did nof
confer on parties a general power to enforc&ée California Medial Association94 Cal
App. 4th at 161. Sinc€alifornia Medical AssociationCalifornia Health & Safety Code

1371.4 has been amendecethtimes without any clarification as to whether an
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indepemlent, privde cause oéction is aailable. The Legislatire’s silene on the isue may
be indiative of itsintent to rot create sch a causef action. See Wilcow. Birtwhigle, 21
Cal. 4th973, 983 1{999) (ackowledgirg that, whik not deteminative, lagislative sience
after a ourt has costrued atatute maygive rise toan infereme of acquescence opassive
appro\al).

Because nelter the laguage, nothe legislatve historyof section1371.4(b) ontain
a clear mdication d the Legisature’s inent to provide for an mdependentprivate case of
action,this Courtdeclines tacreate one Accordingy, the Cout GRANTS Global’smotion
to dismss.

C. Leave to Anend Would Be Futile.

Where a cou dismisss for failure to state alaim unde Rule 12(B(6), it shaild
normally grant lege to amed unless itdetermineghat the pleding coutl not posdily be
cured ly the allegdon of other facts. Cook, Perkis & Liehe v N. Cal. @llection Sv.,
911 F.2& 242, 2479th Cir. 1990). At the hearing @ the moton to dismss, Californa
Medicd Center caceded thait does nohave recarse undethe UCL orat comma law,
becauseny suclpotential clims are tme-barred.Accordingl, Californa Medical
Centert stand-aloe claim umler Califomia Health& Safety @de 8 1374 is dismssed
withoutleave to anend.

V. CONCLUSION

Global’'s mdion to disniss Califonia Medicd Center’sclaim for violation of
California Health& Safety @de § 1374, on the gound thathere is nqorivate right of
action Dr violation of that staute, is grated withou leave to enend.

IT1S SO GRDERED.

Date: June4, 2013

Nathanael M.Cousins
United StatedagistrateJudge
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